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Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2006

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 001-12085

NATIONAL R.V. HOLDINGS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 33-0371079
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
incorporation or organization)

3411 N. Perris Blvd., Perris, California 92571
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant�s telephone number, including area code: (951) 943-6007

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes x   No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of
�accelerated filer� or �large accelerated filer� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer x Non-accelerated filer o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes o   No x

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer�s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

Class
Outstanding at
November 3, 2006
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Common stock, par value $0.01 per share 10,339,484
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PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.  Consolidated Financial Statements

NATIONAL R.V. HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

September 30,
2006

December 31,
2005

(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4 $ 11
Restricted cash 720 201
Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $533 and $392, respectively 21,801 21,533
Inventories 73,191 61,940
Prepaid expenses 2,732 2,359
Deferred income taxes 778 1,281
Total current assets 99,226 87,325
Property, plant and equipment, net 38,411 38,457
Other assets 1,344 1,608
Total assets $ 138,981 $ 127,390

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Book overdraft $ 7,086 $ 2,582
Accounts payable 34,394 20,218
Accrued expenses 23,396 26,273
Current portion of capital leases 62 57
Line of credit 24,048 12,059
Total current liabilities 88,986 61,189
Long-term portion of capital leases 136 169
Deferred income taxes 778 1,281
Long-term accrued expenses 4,986 5,089
Total liabilities 94,886 67,728

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 6)

Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock - $0.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized, 4,000 issued and outstanding � �
Common stock - $0.01 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized, 10,339,484 issued and outstanding 103 103
Additional paid-in capital 38,256 37,563
Retained earnings 5,736 21,996
Total stockholders� equity 44,095 59,662
Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 138,981 $ 127,390

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL R.V. HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2006 2005 2006 2005

Net sales $ 91,999 $ 108,232 $ 315,107 $ 357,082
Cost of goods sold 91,191 106,067 309,031 347,201
Gross profit 808 2,165 6, 076 9,881
Selling expenses 3,234 4,335 9,861 11,289
General and administrative expenses 3,774 3,346 10,618 10,489
Operating loss (6,200 ) (5,516 ) (14,403 ) (11,897 )
Interest expense 801 395 1,835 983
Other expense (income) (10 ) 19 (101 ) (72 )
Loss before income taxes (6,991 ) (5,930 ) (16,137 ) (12,808 )
Provision for income taxes 86 � 123 �
Net loss $ (7,077 ) $ (5,930 ) $ (16,260 ) $ (12,808 )

Loss per common share:
Basic $ (0.68 ) $ (0.57 ) $ (1.57 ) $ (1.24 )
Diluted $ (0.68 ) $ (0.57 ) $ (1.57 ) $ (1.24 )

Weighted average number of shares:
Basic 10,339 10,339 10,339 10,338
Diluted 10,339 10,339 10,339 10,338

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL R.V. HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
 September 30,
2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (16,260 ) $ (12,808 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Bad debt expense 147 126
Reserve and write down of inventories 6,403 1,576
Depreciation and amortization 3,112 2,760
Loss (gain) on asset disposal 28 (35 )
Stock-based compensation 693 �
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase in receivables (415 ) (3,052 )
Increase in inventories (17,654 ) (4,100 )
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (373 ) 641
Increase in accounts payable 14,176 1,271
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses (2,980 ) 1,351
Net cash used for operating activities (13,123 ) (12,270 )

Cash flows from investing activities:
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash (519 ) 226
Repayments on note receivable � 1,970
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,164 ) (3,576 )
Proceeds from sale of assets 128 75
Decrease in other assets 206 44
Net cash used in investing activities (3,349 ) (1,261 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase in book overdraft 4,504 4,207
Principal payments on capital leases (28 ) (24 )
Deferred financing costs � (236 )
Net borrowings under line of credit 11,989 9,444
Proceeds from issuance of common stock � 140
Net cash provided by financing activities 16,465 13,531
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (7 ) �
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 11 11
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 4 $ 11

Supplementary cash flow information:

Reclassification of inventory for operating lease $ � $ 394

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL R.V. HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 � BASIS OF PRESENTATION

General

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of National RV Holdings, Inc. (the �Company�) and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries National RV, Inc. (�NRV�) and Country Coach, Inc. (�CCI�).

The accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, which has been derived from audited consolidated financial statements,
and the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�). Certain information and note disclosures normally included in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted pursuant to those rules and regulations, although
the Company believes that the disclosures made are adequate to make the information not misleading. These consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 and notes thereto
included in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 30, 2006.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments necessary, consisting of
normal recurring adjustments, to state fairly the consolidated financial position, the results of operations and cash flows for all periods presented,
including the elimination of significant intercompany accounts in consolidation. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period
amounts and classification in order to conform to current period presentation.

Seasonal Nature of Business Activities

Results for the interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results for an entire year. Seasonal factors, over which the Company has no
control, have an effect on the demand for the Company�s products. Demand in the recreational vehicle (�RV�) industry characteristically declines
over the winter season, while sales are generally highest during the spring and summer months.

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses for each
period. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical
experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
materially differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
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History of Recent Losses

The Company experienced net losses for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 of $7.1 million and $5.9 million, respectively,
and for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 the Company experienced net losses of  $16.3 million and $12.8 million,
respectively. The Company used $13.1 and $12.3 million of cash for operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The RV industry has been historically cyclical and subject to downturns during periods of weak economic conditions. With
the continued decline of RV industry wholesale shipments, rising interest rates, increased gas prices and continued economic uncertainty, the
Company experienced continued net losses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006. These conditions combined with recent
historical losses led the Company to assess its short-term liquidity needs and plans to achieve profitability.

Management�s initiatives to improve the Company�s earnings and working capital position by achieving operational profitability include: (i)
introducing new products and floor plans in 2006, (ii) adding new dealers to fill open market areas or replace under-performing dealers, (iii)
decreasing overall sales incentives by tailoring programs that provide the maximum value to the Company, (iv) improving manufacturing
efficiencies, (v) further reducing manufacturing and other overhead costs and (vi) decreasing the costs of warranty.

In order to fund on-going operations, the Company remains dependent upon its ability to utilize outside financing through borrowings on its
existing line of credit as well as any additional or replacement debt financings it may be able to complete until it achieves sustained operational
profitability through a combination of increased sales, cost reductions and improved product margins. After consideration of its available
borrowing capacity and funding needs, the Company believes it will need to raise additional funds in the near term in order to have sufficient
financial resources to fund its operations for the next twelve months. As a result, the Company is currently reviewing offers for long-term debt
financing and several other strategic opportunities in order to lessen the Company�s reliance on its existing line of credit and to improve its
working capital position.  There can be no assurance that any such long-term financing or strategic opportunities can be completed with
acceptable terms and conditions. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing, it will then attempt to preserve its available resources
by various methods including deferring the creation or satisfaction of commitments, deferring the introduction of new products or otherwise
scaling back its operations. If the Company were unable to raise such additional capital or defer certain costs as described above, that inability
would have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial position, results of operations and prospects.

NOTE 2 � INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

September 30,
2006

December 31,
2005

Inventories:
Raw materials $ 21,461 $ 19,289
Chassis 6,377 3,236
Work-in-process 30,922 30,870
Finished goods 14,431 8,545
Total inventories $ 73,191 $ 61,940

For the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company recorded a write-down of inventories to the lower of cost or market of
$2.8 million and $0.7 million, respectively.  The increase primarily reflects the incremental costs incurred with introducing two new products
into production during the quarter.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company recorded a write-down of
inventories to the lower of cost or market of $6.1 million and $0.9 million, respectively.  A total of $1.8 million of the $6.1 million write-down
was for units affected by the defective fiberglass as discussed below in Note 6.
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NOTE 3 � ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):

September 30,
2006

December 31,
2005

Current accrued expenses:
Accrued compensation and related taxes $ 5,222 $ 7,811
Accrued sales incentives 3,153 4,129
Warranty reserve 11,667 11,705
Workers� compensation self-insurance reserve 1,853 2,209
Other accrued expenses 1,501 419
Total current accrued expenses $ 23,396 $ 26,273

Long-term accrued expenses:
Warranty reserve $ 132 $ 130
Workers� compensation self-insurance reserve 4,242 4,280
Deferred compensation 612 679
Total long-term accrued expenses $ 4,986 $ 5,089

NOTE 4 � WARRANTY RESERVE
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The Company�s warranty reserve, which is included in the consolidated financial statements under the �Accrued expenses� caption, is established
based on the Company�s best estimate of the amounts necessary to settle future and existing claims on products sold as of the balance sheet date.
The Company records an estimate for future warranty-related costs based on recent actual warranty claims. Also, as part of the warranty reserve
the Company�s recall reserve is established, as necessary, based on management�s estimate of the cost per unit to remedy a given problem and the
estimated number of units that will ultimately be brought in for the repair.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the warranty reserve for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2006 2005

Balance at January 1, $ 11,835 $ 8,505
Warranties issued during the period and changes in liability for pre-existing
warranties 11,880 13,228
Settlements made during the period (11,916 ) (11,619 )
Balance at September 30, $ 11,799 $ 10,114

NOTE 5 � CREDIT FACILITY
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At September 30, 2006, the Company had an asset-based revolving credit facility with UPS Capital Corporation (�UPSC�) and Wells Fargo Bank
for $40 million, after exercising two consecutive $5 million increases to the line of credit in May and June 2006. At September 30, 2006, the
credit facility was collateralized by all of the Company�s assets.  Borrowing availability is based on eligible accounts receivable and inventory.
The facility also includes a requirement to maintain a blocked account arrangement, whereby remittances from the Company�s customers reduce
the debt outstanding. The credit facility contains, among other provisions, certain financial covenants, including funded debt to Earnings Before
Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (�EBITDA�) and a fixed charge coverage ratio. If these financial covenants are not met, the
Company�s availability under the credit facility will be reduced. On August 10, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment of its credit
facility in order to temporarily increase the credit line to $50 million through September 30, 2006. Borrowing availability continues to be based
on eligible accounts receivable and inventory.   The amendment provided that the $50 million credit facility be reduced incrementally to the
original $40 million over a five-week period to be completed the last week in September.  The amendment also provided that all financial
covenants were waived for the months of July, August and September of 2006. In September, the Company exceeded its Minimum Excess
Availability requirements and therefore was not in default of the financial covenants.  In connection with the amendment, the Company provided
its Perris, California real estate as collateral to secure the credit facility.
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At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding loans under the line of credit of $24.0 million and $12.1 million,
respectively. Initial amounts borrowed under the revolving credit facility bear interest at the prime rate listed in the Wall Street Journal plus 0.50
percentage points and may be subsequently adjusted down based on a trailing twelve month funded debt to EBITDA calculation. At September
30, 2006, the interest rate for the borrowings under the line of credit was 8.75%. The weighted average interest rate for the borrowings on the
credit facility during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were 8.75% and 6.57%, respectively. The weighted average interest
rate for the borrowings on the credit facility during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were 8.44% and 6.56%, respectively.

NOTE 6 � COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation:

The Company is involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business, including a variety of warranty, �lemon law,� product liability
and other miscellaneous litigation, all of which are typical in the recreation vehicle industry. With respect to product liability claims, the
Company�s insurance policies cover, in whole or in part, defense costs and liability costs for personal injury or property damage (excluding
damage to Company motorhomes). While it is impossible to estimate with certainty the ultimate legal and financial liability with respect to this
litigation, management is of the opinion that while the final resolution of any such litigation could have a material adverse effect on the
Company�s financial position, results of operations or liquidity in a reporting period, an adequate reserve has been estimated to account for such
losses. However, actual results may significantly vary from these estimates.

Contingent Liabilities Related to Faulty Material Used in Manufacture:

In April 2006, the Company identified an issue relating to a supply of defective fiberglass that it estimated to affect approximately 50
motorhomes at the NRV subsidiary. Since these initial estimates, the Company has found approximately 22 additional defective units, of which
two were found in the three month period ending September 30, 2006. Management has made its best efforts to identify all affected units as of
October 17, 2006. However, there may still be additional unidentified units that management cannot reasonably estimate; consequently, no
reserve has been recorded for potential future losses on the repair and resale of unidentified defective units in the consolidated financial
statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006.    On June 29, 2006, NRV filed a civil action in the Riverside County,
California Superior Court against the supplier of the defective fiberglass.  The lawsuit seeks, among other remedies, compensatory damages for
the repair costs and diminution in value of the affected motorhomes, lost profits, loss of goodwill, and other damages incurred by NRV arising
from the defective material.  There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in the lawsuit or that the Company will be able to
recover all or any of the costs incurred as a result of the defective material.

Recall:

In June 2006,  CCI determined that certain tires installed on some motorhomes between 1995 and 2001 were defective. As a result,  CCI
is conducting a recall to replace these tires. The Company reduced the original recall cost estimate by $0.4 million during the three
month period ended September 30, 2006.   For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company recognized a net cost of $0.7
million.  The Company intends to seek recovery of most of those costs from the tire manufacturer.

Recourse of Dealer Financing:

Most of the Company�s motorhome sales are made on terms requiring payment within 15 business days or less of the dealer�s receipt of the unit.
Most dealers finance all, or substantially all, of the purchase price of their inventory under floor plan arrangements with banks or finance
companies under which the lender pays the Company directly. Dealers typically are not required to commence loan repayments to such lenders
for a period of at least six months. The loan is collateralized by a lien on the motorhome. Consistent with industry practice, the Company has
entered into repurchase agreements with these lenders. In general, the repurchase agreements require the Company to repurchase a unit if the
dealer defaults on the financed unit. Upon a dealer default, the agreements generally require the Company to repurchase RVs at the election of
the lender provided certain conditions are met, such as repossession of the RV by the lender, the RV being new and unused and the time elapsed
between invoice date and
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demand for repurchase being no longer than a specified period which is typically 18 months or less. The Company�s maximum potential
exposure under these agreements approximated $149.0 million at September 30, 2006. The risk of loss under the repurchase agreements is
spread over a number of dealers and lenders and is reduced by the resale value of the RVs, which the Company would be required to repurchase.
Losses under these agreements have not been material in the past and management does not believe that any future losses under such agreements
will have a material adverse effect on the Company�s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows; consequently, no
liability has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Other Commitments:

In August 2004, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire, for $3 million, approximately 73 acres of land adjacent to its CCI facility in
Junction City, Oregon. The Company paid a deposit of $0.1 million. The closing of the purchase is subject to customary closing conditions and
is expected to occur before February 2007.

NOTE 7 � STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

Stock Option Plans
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As of September 30, 2006, the Company had three service-based fixed option plans (the �Plans�): the 1996 Stock Option Plan, the 1997 Stock
Option Plan and the 1999 Stock Option Plan. The Plans are further described below:

1996 Stock Option Plan
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In October 1996, the Company�s Board of Directors adopted and approved the 1996 Stock Option Plan (the �1996 Option Plan�). The 1996 Option
Plan is designed to serve as an incentive for retaining qualified and competent directors, employees and consultants. The 1996 Option Plan
provides for the award of options to purchase up to 675,000 shares of Common Stock. The 1996 Option Plan is administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee has, subject to the provisions of the 1996 Option Plan, full
authority to select Company individuals eligible to participate in such plan, including officers, directors (whether or not employees) and
consultants. The 1996 Option Plan provides for the awarding of incentive stock options (as defined in Section 422 of the United States of
America Internal Revenue Service (�IRS�) Code) and non-incentive stock options. Options granted pursuant to the 1996 Option Plan will have
such vesting schedules and expiration dates as the Compensation Committee shall establish for each participant in the 1996 Option Plan, which
terms shall be reflected in an option agreement executed in connection with the granting of the option. There were no options granted under the
1996 Option Plan for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 145,000 options granted for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

1997 Stock Option Plan
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In June 1997, the Company�s Board of Directors adopted and approved the 1997 Stock Option Plan (the �1997 Option Plan�). The 1997 Option
Plan is designed to serve as an incentive for retaining qualified and competent directors, employees and consultants. The 1997 Option Plan
provides for the award of options to purchase up to 900,000 shares of Common Stock. The 1997 Option Plan is administered by the Board of
Directors or, at its option, a committee of the Board of Directors. The Board (or a designated committee) has, subject to the provisions of the
1997 Option Plan, full authority to select Company individuals eligible to participate in such plan, including officers, directors (whether or not
employees) and consultants. The 1997 Option Plan provides for the awarding of incentive stock options (as defined in Section 422 of the IRS
Code) and non-incentive stock options. Options granted pursuant to the 1997 Option Plan will have such vesting schedules and expiration dates
as the Board (or a designated committee) shall establish for each participant in the 1997 Option Plan, which terms shall be reflected in an option
agreement executed in connection with the granting of the option. There were no options granted under the 1997 Option Plan for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2006.
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1999 Stock Option Plan

The Company�s Board of Directors adopted and approved the 1999 Stock Option Plan in April 1999, which was amended and restated in April
2000 and again in April 2001 (together, the �1999 Option Plan�). The 1999 Option Plan is designed to serve as an incentive for retaining qualified
and competent directors, employees and consultants. The 1999 Option Plan provides for the award of options to purchase up to 1,150,000 shares
of Common Stock. The 1999 Option Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee has, subject to the
provisions of the 1999 Option Plan, full authority to select Company individuals eligible to participate in such plan, including officers, directors
(whether or not employees) and consultants. The 1999 Option Plan provides for the awarding of incentive stock options (as defined in Section
422 of the IRS Code) and non-incentive stock options. Options granted pursuant to the 1999 Option Plan will have such vesting schedules and
expiration dates as the Compensation Committee shall establish for each participant in the 1999 Option Plan, which terms shall be reflected in an
option agreement executed in connection with the granting of the option. There were no options granted under the 1999 Option Plan for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2006.

Options granted to non-employee directors generally vest immediately upon grant and generally expire five to ten years from the date of grant.
Options granted to employees, including employee directors, generally vest in three equal installments and expire five to ten years from the date
of grant. The price of options granted pursuant to these plans will not be less than 100 percent of the market value of the shares on the date of
grant.

Adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) �Share-Based Payment�

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 123(R), �Share-Based Payment�,
(�SFAS No. 123(R)�) and all related financial statement guidance and interpretations using the modified prospective application transition method.
The modified prospective method applies the expense recognition requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) to new awards and to awards outstanding at
the effective date and subsequently modified or canceled and does not restate prior periods for comparative purposes. Previously, the Company
had accounted for employee stock based compensation using the intrinsic value method as proscribed under Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees� (�APB No. 25�), and related interpretations and the fair value method for stock option
grants that do not meet the requirements for use of the intrinsic value method as proscribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123 �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation� (�SFAS No. 123�). Due to the difference in the valuation methods between APB No. 25 and SFAS
No. 123(R), the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) had a significant impact on the Company�s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company recognized compensation expenses and additional paid-in-capital of
$0.1 million and $0.7 million related to the stock-based compensation arrangements, respectively.

On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (�FSP�) FAS No. 123(R)-3 �Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax
Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards� (�FSP FAS No. 123(R)-3�). The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish
the beginning balance of the additional paid-in-capital pool (�APIC pool�) related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation, and to
determine the subsequent impact on the APIC pool and consolidated statements of cash flows of the tax effects of employee share-based
compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). An entity may make a one-time election to adopt the transition
method described in this guidance and may take up to one year from the later of its initial adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) or the effective date of
this guidance, which was November 11, 2005. The Company is in the process of determining whether to adopt the alternative transition method
provided in FSP FAS No. 123(R)-3 for calculating the tax effects of share-based compensation pursuant to SFAS No. 123(R).

The fair value of service-based stock option awards is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton (�Black-Scholes�)
option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes model contains certain significant assumptions in order to estimate the fair value of a stock option at
the date of grant. The expected term is based on analyses of historical exercise patterns in order to determine the average time in which an option
is held before being exercised. The risk free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve for a period consistent with the expected term
of the option in effect at the time of grant. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company�s common stock over the
expected term and considerations regarding expected future volatility of the common stock. The expected dividend is based on the historical
dividend rate paid by the Company.
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Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model for stock option grants during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 are as follows:

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2006

Expected term (in years) 5.0
Risk-free interest rate 4.69 %
Expected volatility 45.0 %
Weighted average volatility 45.0 %
Expected dividend yield 0.0 %

Share based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2006 is based on the awards ultimately expected to vest and therefore has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123(R) requires
forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
Pre-vesting forfeitures were estimated based on historical employee termination rates, which were estimated to be approximately 1% for both
officers and directors and 10% for employees at September 30, 2006. The estimated fair value, less the estimated forfeitures, is amortized to
compensation expense using the straight-line attribution method. In the pro forma information required under SFAS No. 123 for the periods
prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for pre-vesting forfeitures in the pro-forma disclosure as incurred.

A summary of option activity under the Plans for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 is presented below:

Options
Shares
(in thousands)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Term
(years)

Outstanding at January 1, 2006 1,080 $ 9.94
Granted 145 6.09
Exercised � �
Forfeited (6 ) 12.50
Canceled (3 ) 12.50
Outstanding at March 31, 2006 1,216 9.46 4.4
Granted � �
Exercised � �
Forfeited (13 ) 6.80
Canceled (6 ) 9.36
Outstanding at June 30, 2006 1,197 $ 9.49 4.1
Granted � �
Exercised � �
Forfeited (15 ) 6.64
Canceled (179 ) 12.64
Outstanding at September 30, 2006 1,003 $ 8.97 4.4
Exercisable at September 30, 2006 802 $ 9.33 3.3

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $2.79. Because the Plans
established that the exercise price will not be less than 100 percent of the market value of the shares on the date of grant, there are no
compensation costs related to the intrinsic value of share-based compensation.

A summary of the status of the Company�s non-vested shares for the three and nine months ended September 30,
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2006 is presented below:

Options
Shares
(in thousands)

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Non-vested at January 1, 2006 310 $ 3.17
Granted � �
Vested (70 ) 3.47
Forfeited (6 ) 4.56
Non-vested at March 31, 2006 234 3.05
Granted � �
Vested (5 ) 3.79
Forfeited (13 ) 2.93
Non-vested at June 30, 2006 216 3.03
Granted � �
Vested � �
Forfeited (15 ) 2.90
Non-vested at September 30, 2006 201 $ 3.04

As of September 30, 2006, there was $0.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation
arrangements granted under the Plans that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.1 years. The total fair value of
shares vested during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $0.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively. Since the Company
had net operating loss carryforwards (before valuation) as of September 30, 2006, no excess tax benefit for the tax deductions related to
stock-based compensation was recognized for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006. Additionally, no incremental tax benefits
were recognized from stock options exercised for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, which would have resulted in a
reclassification to reduce net cash provided by operating activities with an offsetting increase in net cash provided by financing activities.

Pro-forma Information Required Under SFAS No. 123 for Periods Prior to Fiscal 2006

Prior to adopting the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company recorded estimated compensation expense for employee stock options under
the intrinsic value method promulgated by APB No. 25 and provided pro-forma disclosure of the fair value method in its interim and annual
consolidated financial statements as required by SFAS No. 148, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation�Transition and Disclosure� (�SFAS
No. 148�) and SFAS No. 123.

For the purposes of pro-forma disclosures required under SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148 for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2005, the estimated value of the stock options were assumed to be amortized to expense over the stock options� vesting periods. The pro-forma
effects of recognizing the compensation expense under the fair value method on net loss and loss per common share for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2005 were as follows (all amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):
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Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2005

Net loss $ (5,930 ) $ (12,808 )
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards, net of related tax effects 186 527
Pro forma net loss $ (6,116 ) $ (13,335 )

Basic loss per share $ (0.57 ) $ (1.24 )
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards, net of related tax effects 0.02 0.05
Basic loss per share pro forma $ (0.59 ) $ (1.29 )

Diluted loss per share $ (0.57 ) $ (1.24 )
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards, net of related tax effects 0.02 0.05
Diluted loss per share pro forma $ (0.59 ) $ (1.29 )

Because the Plans established that the exercise price will not be less than 100 percent of the market value of the shares on the date of grant, there
were no compensation costs related to the intrinsic value of stock options.  For the three months ended September 30, 2006, there were no stock
options granted.  A total of 145,000 stock options were granted during the nine month period ending September 30, 2006.

NOTE 8 � INCOME TAXES

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 �Accounting for Income Taxes� (�SFAS No. 109�) requires that a valuation allowance be
established when it is more likely than not that a company�s deferred tax assets will not be realized. In determining whether a valuation allowance
is required, the Company must take into account all positive and negative evidence with regard to the utilization of deferred tax assets. SFAS
No. 109 further states that it is difficult to conclude that a valuation allowance is not needed when there is negative evidence such as cumulative
losses in recent years. The Company recorded non-cash charges for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 of $2.9 million and
$2.5 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company recorded non-cash charges of $6.3 million
and $4.9 million, respectively, to fully reserve against the net deferred tax assets realized during those periods. Allocating the valuation
allowance on a pro rata basis, in accordance with SFAS No. 109, resulted in current net deferred tax assets and long-term net deferred tax
liabilities of $0.8 million at September 30, 2006 and $1.3 million at December 31, 2005.

NOTE 9 � LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted loss
per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if options were exercised or converted into common stock. Shares attributable to the
exercise of outstanding options that are anti-dilutive are excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share.

The Company excluded stock options to purchase 1,003,001 and 931,796 shares from the computation of diluted earnings per share at
September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

NOTE 10 � RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 151,
�Inventory Costs-an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4� (�SFAS No. 151�). SFAS No. 151 amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43,
Chapter 4 (�ARB 43�), to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be
recognized as current-period charges. In addition, SFAS No. 151 requires that allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of conversion
be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. This standard was effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2005. This standard was applied prospectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 the Company
recognized a current period charge of $0.4 million of fixed production overhead below normal production levels.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, �Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets� (�SFAS No. 153�), which eliminates the exception for
nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not
have commercial substance. SFAS No. 153 was effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15,
2005. Adoption of SFAS No. 153 did not significantly affect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),�Share-Based Payment� (�SFAS No. 123(R)�), which replaces SFAS No. 123,
�Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,� (�SFAS No. 123�) and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.�
SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
consolidated financial statements based on their fair values beginning with the first annual period after June 15, 2005, with early adoption
encouraged. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS No. 123 no longer will be an alternative to consolidated financial
statement recognition. The Company was required to adopt SFAS No. 123(R) in the first calendar quarter of 2006, beginning January 1, 2006.
Under SFAS No. 123(R), the Company must determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments, the
amortization method for compensation cost and the transition method to be used at date of adoption. The transition methods include modified
prospective and modified retrospective adoption options. Under the modified retrospective option, prior periods may be restated either as of the
beginning of the year of adoption or for all periods presented. The modified prospective method requires that compensation expense be recorded
for all unvested stock options and restricted stock at the beginning of the first quarter of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), while the modified
retrospective method would record compensation expense for all unvested stock options and restricted stock beginning with the first period
restated. After evaluating the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company determined to adopt SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified
prospective method and use the Black-Scholes model to value service stock option plans that are currently in effect. The adoption of SFAS No.
123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the
Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and its related
interpretations.

In March 2005, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, �Share-Based Payment� (�SAB No. 107�), which provides interpretive
guidance related to the interaction between SFAS No. 123(R) and certain SEC rules and regulations. It also provides the SEC staff�s views
regarding valuation of share-based payment arrangements. In April 2005, the SEC amended the compliance dates for SFAS No. 123(R), to allow
companies to implement the standard at the beginning of their next fiscal year, instead of the next reporting period beginning after June 15,
2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows of the Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS
No. 123(R) and its related interpretations.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, �Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations�  (�FIN No. 47�). FIN 47
provides guidance relating to the identification of and financial reporting for legal obligations to perform an asset retirement activity. The
Interpretation requires recognition of a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the liability�s fair
value can be reasonably estimated. FIN No. 47 also defines when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair
value of an asset retirement obligation. The provision was effective no later than the end of fiscal years ending after December 15, 2005. The
adoption of FIN No. 47 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the
Company.

In June 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, reached a consensus on Issue 05-6, �Determining the Amortization Period for Leasehold
Improvements� (�EITF 05-6�), which requires that leasehold improvements acquired in a business combination or purchased subsequent to the
inception of a lease be amortized over the lesser of the useful life of the assets or a term that includes renewals that are reasonably assured at the
date of the business combination or purchase. EITF 05-6 was effective for periods beginning after July 1, 2005. The provisions of this consensus
did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.
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In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, �Accounting Changes and Error Corrections�a replacement of APB No. 20 and SFAS No. 3� (�SFAS
No. 154�). SFAS No. 154 provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. It establishes,
unless impracticable, retrospective application as the required method for reporting a change in accounting principle in the absence of explicit
transition requirements specific to the newly adopted accounting principles. SFAS No. 154 also provides guidance for determining whether
retrospective application of a change in accounting principle is impracticable and for reporting a change when retrospective application is
impracticable. The correction of an error in previously issued consolidated financial statements is not an accounting change. However, the
reporting of a correction of an error involves adjustments to previously issued consolidated financial statements similar to those generally
applicable to reporting an accounting change retrospectively. Therefore, the reporting of a correction of an error by restating previously issued
consolidated financial statements is also addressed by SFAS No. 154. SFAS No. 154 was required to be adopted in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows of the Company.

In August 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (�FSP�) FSP FAS No. 123-1, �Classification and Measurement of Freestanding Financial
Instruments Originally Issued in Exchange for Employee Services under FASB Statement No. 123(R).� In this FSP, the FASB decided to defer
the requirements in SFAS No. 123(R), that make a freestanding financial instrument subject to the recognition and measurement requirements of
other accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America when the rights conveyed by the instrument are no longer
dependent on the holder being an employee. The guidance in this FSP should be applied upon initial adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and
its related interpretations.

In October 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 123(R)-2, �Practical Accommodation to the Application of Grant Date As Defined in FASB
Statement No. 123(R).� In this FSP, the FASB is providing companies with a �practical accommodation� when determining the grant date of an
award that is subject to the accounting provisions in SFAS No. 123(R). Specifically, assuming a company meets all of the other criteria in the
definition of grant date in SFAS No. 123(R), a mutual understanding (between the company and the recipient) of the key terms and conditions of
an award is presumed to exist at the date the award is approved (in accordance with the company�s normal corporate governance policy) if (1) the
award is a unilateral grant meaning that the recipient does not have the ability to negotiate the key terms and conditions of the award, and (2) the
key terms and conditions of the award are expected to be communicated to the recipient within a relatively short period of time (as defined in the
FSP) after the grant was approved. The guidance in this FSP shall be applied upon initial adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the
Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and its related
interpretations.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 123(R)-3, �Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based
Payment Awards.� This FSP provides a practical exception when a company transitions to the accounting requirements in SFAS No. 123(R).
SFAS No. 123(R) requires a company to calculate the pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to
adopting SFAS No. 123(R) (termed the �APIC Pool�), assuming the company had been following the recognition provisions prescribed by SFAS
No. 123. The FASB learned that several companies do not have the necessary historical information to calculate the APIC Pool as envisioned by
SFAS No. 123(R) and accordingly, the FASB decided to allow a practical exception as documented in this FSP. The guidance in this FSP was
effective after the date the FSP was posted to the FASB website. The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material
effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and its related interpretations.
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In February 2006, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 123(R)-4, �Classification of Options and Similar Instruments Issued As Employee
Compensation That Allow for Cash Settlement upon the Occurrence of a Contingent Event.� The guidance in this FSP amends certain paragraphs
in SFAS No. 123(R), and addresses situations when a company has option plans that require the company to settle outstanding options in cash
upon the occurrence of certain contingent events. For example, some plans require a company to cash settle an option upon a change in control
of the company, or death or disability of the holder. This FSP amends SFAS No. 123(R) to address such situations and concludes that a
probability notion be applied. The guidance in this FSP was effective with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). If a company had already adopted
SFAS No. 123(R), the FASB required retrospective application if a company applied the standard inconsistent with the conclusions in this FSP.
The guidance in this FSP was applied upon initial adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations
had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company. Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and its related interpretations.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issue Task Force EITF reached a consensus on issue EITF 06-2 �Accounting for Sabbatical Leave and Other Similar
Benefits Pursuant to FASB Statement No. 43� (�EITF 06-2�). Accordingly, an employee�s right to a compensated absence under a sabbatical or
other similar benefit arrangement (a) that requires the completion of a minimum service period and (b) in which the benefit does not increase
with additional years of service accumulates pursuant to paragraph 6(b) of EITF 06-2 for arrangements in which the individual continues to be a
compensated employee and is not required to perform duties for the entity during the absence. Therefore, assuming all of the other conditions of
paragraph 6 of EITF 06-2 are met, the compensation cost associated with a sabbatical or other similar benefit arrangement should be accrued
over the requisite service period.  The provisions of this consensus should be applied in financial reports for fiscal years beginning after the date
the consensus is ratified by the Board. Entities should recognize the effects of applying the consensus as a change in accounting principle
through retrospective application to all prior periods unless it is impracticable to do so. The Company had been accounting for benefits similar to
sabbatical leave in accordance with the provisions of this consensus. Consequently, the adoption of the provisions of this consensus will not
have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.� This Interpretation clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in companies� financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, �Accounting for
Income Taxes.� This Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. This Interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure and transition. The Company does not expect FASB Interpretation No. 48 to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
position, results of operation or cash flows of the Company.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements.�  SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principals and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  The statement does
not require new fair value measurements, but is applied to the extent that other accounting pronouncements require or permit fair value
measurements.  The statement emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on the assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.  Companies that have assets and liabilities measured at fair value will be
required to disclose information that enables the users of its financial statements to access the inputs used to develop those measurements.  The
reporting entity is encouraged, but not required, to combine the fair value information disclosed under this statement with the fair value
information disclosed under other accounting pronouncements.  SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. 
The Company is in the process of evaluating the provisions of the statement, but does not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have
a material impact on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employers� Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans � an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R), which requires an employer to recognize the over-funded or under-funded status
of a defined benefit postretirement plan (other than a multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to
recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income of a business entity or changes in
unrestricted net assets of a not-for �profit organization.  Statement No. 158 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of
the date of its year-end statement of financial position, with limited exceptions.  This statement is effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2006.  The Company does not currently provide defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans, therefore the Company has
determined that the adoption of this statement will not have an impact on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, �Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements� (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides guidance on how the effects of prior-year uncorrected
financial statement misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. SAB 108 requires registrants to quantify
misstatements using both an income statement (rollover) and balance sheet (iron curtain) approach and evaluate whether either approach results
in a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are considered, is material. If prior year errors that had been
previously considered immaterial are now considered material based on either approach, no restatement is required as long as management
properly applied its previous approach and all relevant facts and circumstances were considered. If prior years are not restated, the cumulative
effect adjustment is recorded in opening retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years
ending on or after November 15, 2006. The Company does not expect the adoption of SAB 108 to have an impact on our financial condition or
results of operations.

Item 2.  Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following management�s discussion and analysis (�MD & A�) is intended to help the reader understand the financial condition and
results of operations of National RV Holdings, Inc. This MD & A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction
with, the Company�s consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements contained
within this quarterly Form 10-Q filing and the Company�s Annual Report filed on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Disclosure Regarding Forward Looking Statements

This report contains information that may constitute �forward-looking statements.� Generally, the words �believe,� �expect,� �intend,�
�estimate,� �anticipate,� �project,� �will� and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which generally are not historical in
nature. All statements that address operating performance, events or developments that the Company expects or anticipates will occur in the
future�including statements relating to volume growth, share of sales and earnings per share growth, and statements expressing general
optimism about future operating results�are forward-looking statements. As and when made, management believes that these forward-looking
statements are reasonable. However, caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements because such
statements speak only as of the date when made. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. In addition, forward-looking statements are subject to certain
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company�s historical experience and its present
expectations or projections. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described in this report, in Part II, �Item 1A.
Risk Factors� and elsewhere in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, and those described from time to time
in future reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Executive Overview

National R.V. Holdings, Inc. (the �Company�) through its two wholly-owned subsidiaries National RV, Inc.  (�NRV�) and Country Coach, Inc.
(�CCI�), is one of the nation�s leading producers of motorized recreational vehicles, often referred to as RVs or motorhomes. From its Perris,
California facility, NRV designs, manufactures, and markets Class A gas and diesel motorhomes under the Dolphin, Islander, Sea Breeze,
Pacifica, Surfside,
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Tradewinds and Tropical brand names. From its Junction City, Oregon facility, CCI designs, manufactures and markets
high-end (Highline) Class A diesel motorhomes under the brand names Affinity, Allure, Inspire, Intrigue, Magna,
Tribute and bus conversions under the Country Coach Prevost brand.

For the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Company incurred a net loss of $7.1 million or $0.68 per share as compared to a net loss of
$5.9 million or $0.57 per share for the three months ended September 30, 2005. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company
incurred a net loss of $16.3 million or $1.57 per share as compared to a net loss of $12.8 million or $1.24 per share for the nine months ended
September 30, 2005. Despite its losses, the Company increased market share by 12.5% as reported by Statistical Surveys, Inc. for the eight
months ended August 31, 2006 (the most recent period available) as compared to the same period in 2005. The Class A motorhome industry
experienced a 17.7% decline in wholesale shipments as reported by the Recreation Vehicle Industry Association (�RVIA�) for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 as compared to the same period in 2005. Net sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 declined
15% and 12% respectively, despite the even larger overall industry decline.  As a result, the Company�s profitability was negatively affected.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company incurred significant writedowns of inventory levels due to declining
production volumes at the Company�s NRV subsidiary and production inefficiencies associated with the introduction of two new product lines by
the CCI subsidiary.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 123(R),�Share-Based Payment�, and
all related financial statement guidance and interpretations using the modified prospective application transition method. The modified
prospective method applies the expense recognition requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) to new awards and to awards outstanding at the effective
date and subsequently modified or canceled and does not restate prior periods for comparative purposes. Previously, the Company had
accounted for employee stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method as proscribed under Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees� (�APB No. 25�) and related interpretations and the fair value method for stock option grants
that do not meet the requirements for use of the intrinsic value method as proscribed by SFAS No. 123. Due to the difference in the valuation
methods between APB No. 25 and SFAS No. 123(R), the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) had a significant impact on the Company�s financial
position, results of operations and cash flows. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company recognized compensation
expenses and additional paid-in-capital of $0.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively, related to the stock-based compensation arrangements.
Because the Company�s stock option plans established that the exercise price will not be less than 100 percent of the market value of the shares
on the date of grant, no compensation costs related to the intrinsic value of stock options were recognized in periods prior to January 1, 2006.

Share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations is based on the awards ultimately expected to vest
and therefore has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Pre-vesting forfeitures were estimated based on historical
employee termination rates, which were estimated to be approximately 1% for both officers and directors and 10% for employees at September
30, 2006. The estimated fair value, less the estimated forfeitures are amortized to compensation expense using the straight-line attribution
method. In the pro forma information required under SFAS No. 123 for the periods prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for
pre-vesting forfeitures in the pro-forma disclosure required by SFAS No. 123 as incurred.

At September 30, 2006, there was $0.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested share-based compensation
arrangements granted under the Plans that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.1 years. The total fair value of
shares vested during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $0.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively. Since the Company
had net operating loss carryforwards (before valuation) as of September 30, 2006, no excess tax benefit for the tax deductions related to
stock-based compensation was recognized for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006. Additionally, no incremental tax benefits
were recognized from stock options exercised for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 that would have resulted in a
reclassification to reduce net cash provided by operating activities with an offsetting increase in net cash provided by financing activities.
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Looking Forward

The Company continues to focus on growth and profitability. At CCI, the focus is on improving margins through continued investment in
manufacturing engineering, while continuing aggressive product development to maintain market position.  At NRV, the focus remains on
growth and cost containment. In addition, the Company continues to focus on increasing its dealer body in open markets.

The Company�s continuous re-design and introduction of new product offerings at NRV and CCI are aimed at continuing to increase in the
Company�s market share during 2006. The introductions of additional new products are planned at both divisions during the year. NRV
introduced its new Pacifica diesel motorhome early in the third quarter of 2006, and CCI introduced its new Tribute line in the third quarter of
2006.  CCI will also introduce the Rhapsody line in the fourth quarter of the year.

Cost containment remains a high priority, specifically in the manufacturing cost, warranty and workers� compensation areas. The Company
continues to focus on improving the quality of its motorhomes. Also, the Company has instituted a number of safety programs, which have
resulted in measurably reduced year-to-date workers� compensation costs. Both NRV and CCI have recently staffed full-time manufacturing
engineers to assist in increasing manufacturing efficiency gain.

The Company is continually striving to increase its customer support by improving club support, telephone support for owners and dealers, and
parts fulfillment. The Company utilizes various techniques such as surveys and focus groups to ensure that it is improving in the area of
customer satisfaction. A continued focus on dealer acquisition and enhanced training programs, such as factory-training programs provide the
Company�s customers a basis for self-diagnostics and a better understanding of the equipment they are operating.

The RVIA�s market expansion campaign, GO RVing, is fostering greater awareness and garnering media attention. Though RVIA expects
substantial growth for the industry in the long-term or decade ahead, RVIA expects a continued decline in the industry during 2006.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported. See the
discussion of critical accounting policies below and in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005. Besides the
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), there were no unusual uncertainties of a material nature involved in the application of these principles nor any
unusual, material variation in estimates related to these principles for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of SFAS No. 123(R), and all related financial statement guidance and interpretations
using the modified prospective application transition method. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), the fair value of the stock options are
estimated using the Black Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires managements
to make estimates about the term in which the option holder will exercise, the risk free interest rate, volatility of the stock, future dividend yield
and pre-vesting forfeiture rates. These estimates are based on historical experience and on various other judgments that management believes to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could significantly differ from these estimates, and the results of operations could be
materially impacted.

Inventory Pricing

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 151. SFAS No. 151 amends ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, to clarify that abnormal
amount of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges. In
addition, SFAS No. 151 requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the
production facilities. Compliance with SFAS No. 151 requires significant judgments and estimates as to what constitutes abnormal amounts of
idle facility,
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freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) as well as the threshold of �normal capacity� of a production facility. The requirements of
SFAS No. 151 could potentially have a future impact on the Company�s financial position, results of operations and cash flow of the Company
based on certain economic factors and management�s judgments and estimates about what constitutes abnormal costs and normal capacity in
which actual results could significantly differ from these estimates.  For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company
recognized a current period charge of $0.4 million of allocated fixed production overhead below normal production levels.    

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Results of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 to the three and nine months ended September
30, 2005:

(Amounts in tables are in thousands, except wholesale sales and percentages)

Net sales

Three Months Ended 
September 30,
Percent Change

Nine Months Ended 
September 30,
Percent Change

2006 2005 2006 2005

Net sales $ 91,999 (15.0 )% $ 108,232 $ 315,107 (11.8 )% $ 357,082
as a percent of net sales 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

The Company operates in one business segment which designs, markets and manufactures Class A motorhomes that are sold to a network of
dealers throughout the United States and Canada. Net sales are comprised of sales of motorhomes, parts and services. Net sales are reduced by
sales returns and allowances and cash-based sales incentive programs.

The following table presents the number of diesel and gas Class A motorhomes wholesale sold for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2006 and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005:

Three Months
Ended September 30,

Nine Months
Ended September 30,

2006 2005 % Change 2006 2005 % Change
Diesel 288 302 (4.6 )%952 1,087 (12.4 )%
Gas 220 303 (27.4 )%911 1,073 (15.1 )%
Total 508 605 (16.0 )%1,863 2,160 (13.8 )%

Net sales for the three months ended September 30, 2006 decreased $16.2 million or 15% from the same period in 2005. The decrease was
caused by a general decline in industry shipments of 18%. Shipments of diesel units declined 5% while shipments of gas units declined 27% for
a combined unit shipment decline of 16% for the Company. The average sales price for the quarter increased 1% to $181,000 for the current
quarter from $179,000 for the same quarter last year.

Sales incentives for the three months ended September 30, 2006 increased by approximately $0.8 million, going from 2.8% to 4.3% of net sales
from the same period in 2005. Included in the sales incentives were $1.1 million in rebates related to the sale of units affected by the defective
fiberglass material from a third party supplier. Excluding the incentives for the units affected by the defective fiberglass material, sales
incentives would have decreased by $0.3 million.

Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 decreased $42.0 million or 12% from the same period in 2005. The decrease was
caused by a general decline in industry shipments of 18%. Shipments of diesel units declined 12% while shipments of gas units declined 15% for
a combined unit shipment decline of 14% for the Company. The average sales price for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 increased
2% to $169,000 from $165,000 for the same period last year.
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Sales incentives for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, decreased by $1.4 million or 11% from the same period in 2005.   Included in
the sales incentives were $2.0 million in rebates related to the units affected by the defective fiberglass material from a third party supplier. 
Excluding the incentives for the units affected by the defective fiberglass  material, sales incentives for the Company would have decreased $3.4
million or 27% from the nine month period ended September 30, 2005.  In 2005, the Company offered significant cash rebates to move surplus
goods from its manufacturing facility as a result of the slowing market demands.  In 2006, the Company has focused its incentives to more
structured cash rebates to the dealers based on retailing brands and replenishing the dealers� lots with similar brand models.

Gross profit margin

Three Months Ended
September 30,
Percent Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
Percent Change

2006 2005 2006 2005

Gross profit $ 808 (62.7 )% $ 2,165 $ 6,076 (38.5 )% $ 9,881
Gross profit margin 0.9 % (55.0 )% 2.0 % 1.9 % (32.1 )% 2.8 %

Gross profit represents net sales less cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold include materials, labor and overhead (including research,
development and engineering costs) associated with the production of Class A motorhomes, the cost of parts sold, costs of providing service,
warranty expense and delivery costs.

For the three months ending September 30, 2006, the Company realized gross profit of $.8 million, a decrease of $1.4 million from the three
months ending September 30, 2005.  Gross profit margin was negatively impacted by a $1.5 million increase in the workers compensation
reserve for a significant injury and a revised actuarial estimate on the overall reserve.  In addition, the Company recorded a write-down of
inventories to the lower of cost or market of $2.8 million primarily reflecting the incremental costs incurred with introducing new products and
redesigns into production during the quarter.  As a result of decreasing levels of production at NRV a charge of $0.4 million was recognized for
fixed overhead costs below normal capacity as required by SFAS 151 �Inventory Costs-an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4�.  Offsetting
these increases was a reduction of $0.4 million to the reserve accrual for the recall of defective tires used in the manufacture of certain
motorhomes between 1995 and 2001, other cost reductions and improved operating efficiencies over the three months ending September 30,
2005.          

For the nine months ending September 30, 2006, the Company realized gross profit of $6.1 million, a decrease of $3.8 million from the nine
months ending September 30, 2005.  The Company recorded a write-down of inventories to the lower of cost or market of $6.1 million as the
result of three primary factors.  The first factor related to the costs associated with the defective fiberglass supplied to the Company by a third
party supplier, which the Company first identified in April 2006.  The costs incurred related to this defective material include, among other
items, production rework costs, discounts related to the sale of affected units, plant shutdowns and other costs.  The second factor was the
incremental costs associated with the introduction of new products and redesigns into production.  The third factor was lower production rates
realized at NRV resulting in lower fixed cost absorption.  Gross profit was also negatively affected by a $1.5 million increase in the workers
compensation reserve for a significant injury and a revised actuarial estimate on the overall reserve and a $0.7 increase in the reserve for the
recall for defective tires used in the manufacture of certain motorhomes between 1995 and 2001.  Gross profit for the nine months ended
September 30, 2006 was positively impacted by reductions in sales incentives.

22

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RV HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q

1997 Stock Option Plan 32



Selling expenses

Three Months Ended 
September 30,
Percent Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
Percent Change

2006 2005 2006 2005

Selling expenses $ 3,234 (25.4 )% $ 4,335 $ 9,861 (12.6 )% $ 11,289
as a percent of net sales 3.5 % 4.0 % 3.1 % 3.2 %

Selling expenses include payroll, employee benefits and other head-count related costs associated with sales and marketing personnel,
advertising, promotion, customer clubs, dealer trade shows and rallies.

For the three months ended September 30, 2006, selling expenses decreased 25% from the comparable prior year period.  This decrease was due
to a reduction in both sales and marketing expenses and was offset by a small increase in the cost of shows and rallies.  The decrease in selling
expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was due to decreased sales
commissions resulting from a decrease in sales and a reduction in advertising costs and was partially offset by increased show expenses.

General and administrative expenses

Three Months Ended
September 30,
Percent Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
Percent Change

2006 2005 2006 2005

General and administrative expenses $ 3,774 12.8 % $ 3,346 $ 10,618 1.2 % $ 10,489
as a percent of net sales 4.1 % 3.1 % 3.4 % 2.9 %

General and administrative costs include payroll, employee benefits, stock-based compensation and other headcount related costs associated
with human resource management, information technology, finance and executive management. General and administrative costs also include
the cost of professional services such as accountants, consultants and attorneys and costs associated with being a publicly held corporation.

The increase of $0.4 million in general and administrative costs for the three months ended September 30, 2006 was the result of increased
professional fees and loan fees.  The increase in general and administrative costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was due to
increased professional fees, share based compensation and loan fees offset by certain cost reductions resulting from the Company�s cost
containment iniatives.

Interest expense
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Three Months Ended
September 30,
Percent Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
Percent Change

2006 2005 2006 2005

Interest expense $ 801 102.8 % $ 395 $ 1,835 86.7 % $ 983
as a percent of net sales 0.9 % 0.4 % 0.6 % 0.3 %

Interest expense primarily represents the interest charged on the Company�s line of credit with UPSC and Wells Fargo Bank.

The increase in interest expense in both the three and nine month period ended September 30, 2006 is a result of increased borrowing on the line
of credit as well as rising interest rates directly related to the increases in the prime interest rate by the Federal Reserve.
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Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condition

The Company incurred net losses of $7.1 million and $5.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005,
respectively, and $16.3 million and $12.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company used
$13.1 and $12.3 million of cash for operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  The RV industry
historically has been cyclical and subject to down turns during periods of weak economic conditions. Swings in consumer confidence, rising
interest rates, increased gas prices and continued economic uncertainty have led to an overall decline in the RV industry since the third quarter of
2004; consequently, due in part to such industry conditions, the Company has experienced continued losses.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company financed its operations primarily through its existing working capital and line
of credit with UPSC and Wells Fargo Bank. At September 30, 2006, the Company had $4,000 in cash and cash equivalents.  This amount
excludes restricted cash totaling $0.7 million required to secure a letter of credit in connection with one of the Company�s insurance policies, to
provide security for the Company�s credit cards and to provide a deposit in lieu of bond for a warranty case.  The $0.5 million increase in
restricted cash from December 31,2005, was primarily attributable to the $0.3 million deposit in lieu of bond.  The Company had net working
capital of $10.2 million and $26.1 million at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively. The decrease in working capital at
September 30, 2006 compared to December 31, 2005 was primarily due to an increase in accounts payable of $14.2 million, an increase in the
line of credit of $12.0 million, and an increase in the book overdraft of $4.5 million, offset by an increase in net inventories of $11.3 million.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company used $13.1 million of cash in its operations, which was primarily due to a net
loss of $16.3 million, increases in net inventories of $11.3 million, partially offset by a $14.2 million increase in accounts payable.  During the
nine months ended September 30, 2005, the Company used $12.0 million of cash in its operations.  This was primarily attributable to a net loss
of $12.8 million, increases in accounts receivable and net inventory of $3.1 million and $2.1 million, partially offset by $2.8 million of
depreciation expense and increases in accrued liabilities and accounts payable of $1.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively.  For the nine
months ended September 30, 2006, net cash used in investing activities was $3.3 million, which was primarily attributable to purchases of
property, plant and equipment. During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, net cash used in investing activities was $1.5 million,
consisting primarily of $3.6 million of purchases of property, plant and equipment, partially offset by repayments on the note receivable of $2.0
million. Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $16.5 million, primarily due to net
borrowings under  the line of credit of $12.0 million and an increase in the book overdraft of $4.5 million. Net cash provided by financing
activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $13.5 million, primarily due to net borrowings under  the line of credit of $9.4
million and an increase in the book overdraft of $4.2 million.

At September 30, 2006, the Company had an asset-based revolving credit facility with UPS Capital Corporation (�UPSC�) and Wells Fargo Bank
for $40 million, after exercising two consecutive $5 million increases to the line of credit in May and June 2006. The credit facility is
collateralized by all of the Company�s assets. Borrowing availability is based on eligible accounts receivable and inventory. The facility also
includes a requirement to maintain a blocked account arrangement, whereby remittances from the Company�s customers reduce the debt
outstanding.  On August 10, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment of its credit facility in order to temporarily increase the credit line to
$50 million through September 30, 2006. Borrowing availability continued to be based on eligible accounts receivable and inventory.   The
amendment provided that the $50 million credit facility be reduced incrementally to the original $40 million over a five-week period to be
completed the last week in September.  The amendment also provided that all financial covenants were waived for the months of July, August
and September of 2006. In September, the Company exceeded its Minimum Excess Availability requirements and therefore was not in default of
the financial covenants.  In connection with the amendment, the Company provided its Perris, California real estate as collateral to secure the
credit facility.

At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding loans under the line of credit of $24.0 million and $12.1 million,
respectively. Initial amounts borrowed under the revolving credit facility bear interest at the prime rate listed in the Wall Street Journal plus 0.50
percentage points and may be subsequently adjusted down based on a trailing twelve month funded debt to EBITDA calculation. At September
30, 2006, the interest rate for the borrowings under the line of credit was 8.75%. The weighted average interest rate for the
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borrowings on the credit facility during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were 8.75% and 6.57%, respectively, and 8.44%
and 6.56% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Management�s plan to achieve operational profitability includes continuing or starting a variety of initiatives to improve the Company�s earnings
and working capital position, including: (i) introducing new products and floor plans in 2006, (ii) adding new dealers to fill open market areas or
replace under-performing dealers, (iii) decreasing overall sales incentives by tailoring programs that provide the maximum value to the
Company, (iv) reducing material and related obsolescence costs, (v) improving manufacturing efficiencies, (vi) further reducing manufacturing
and other overhead costs and (vii) decreasing the costs of warranty.

In order to fund on-going operations, the Company remains dependent upon its ability to utilize outside financing through borrowings on its
existing line of credit as well as any additional or replacement debt financings it may be able to complete until it achieves sustained operational
profitability through a combination of increased sales, cost reductions and improved product margins. After consideration of its available
borrowing capacity and funding needs, the Company believes it will need to raise additional funds in the near term in order to have sufficient
financial resources to fund its operations for the next twelve months. As a result, the Company is currently reviewing offers for long-term debt
financing and several other strategic opportunities in order to lessen the Company�s reliance on its existing line of credit and to improve its
working capital position.  There can be no assurance that any such long-term financing or strategic opportunities can be completed with
acceptable terms and conditions. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing, it will then attempt to preserve its available resources
by various methods including deferring the creation or satisfaction of commitments, deferring the introduction of new products or otherwise
scaling back its operations. If the Company were unable to raise such additional capital or defer certain costs as described above, that inability
would have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial position, results of operations and prospects.

Most of the Company�s motorhome sales are made on terms requiring payment within 15 business days or less of the dealer�s receipt of the unit.
Most dealers finance all, or substantially all, of the purchase price of their inventory under floor plan arrangements with banks or finance
companies under which the lender pays the Company directly. Dealers typically are not required to commence loan repayments to such lenders
for a period of at least six months. The loan is collateralized by a lien on the motorhome. Consistent with industry practice, the Company has
entered into repurchase agreements with these lenders. In general, the repurchase agreements require the Company to repurchase a unit if the
dealer defaults on the financed unit. Upon a dealer default, the agreements generally require the Company to repurchase RVs at the election of
the lender provided certain conditions are met, such as repossession of the RV by the lender, the RV being new and unused and the time elapsed
between invoice date and demand for repurchase being no longer than a specified period which is typically 18 months or less. The Company�s
maximum potential exposure under these agreements approximated $149.0 million at September 30, 2006. The risk of loss under the repurchase
agreements is spread over a number of dealers and lenders and is reduced by the resale value of the RVs, which the Company would be required
to repurchase. Losses under these agreements have not been material in the past and management does not believe that any future losses under
such agreements will have a material adverse effect on the Company�s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows;
consequently, no liability has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

In August 2004, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire, for $3 million, approximately 73 acres of land adjacent to its Country
Coach, Inc. facility in Junction City, Oregon. The Company paid a deposit of $0.1 million. The closing of the purchase is subject to customary
closing conditions. The Company is in the process of obtaining long-term financing in order to finance the purchase and is expected to close
before February 2007.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 151,
�Inventory Costs-an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4� (�SFAS No. 151�). SFAS No. 151 amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43,
Chapter 4 (�ARB 43�), to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be
recognized as current-period charges. In addition, SFAS No. 151 requires that allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of conversion
be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. This standard was effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years
beginning after September 15, 2005. This standard was applied prospectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 the
Company recognized a current period charge of $0.4 million of fixed production overhead below normal production levels.    
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, �Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets� (�SFAS No. 153�), which eliminates the exception for
nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not
have commercial substance. SFAS No. 153 was effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15,
2005. Adoption of SFAS No. 153 did not significantly affect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),�Share-Based Payment� (�SFAS No. 123(R)�), which replaces SFAS No. 123,
�Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,� (�SFAS No. 123�) and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.�
SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
consolidated financial statements based on their fair values beginning with the first annual period after June 15, 2005, with early adoption
encouraged. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS No. 123 no longer will be an alternative to consolidated financial
statement recognition. The Company was required to adopt SFAS No. 123(R) in the first calendar quarter of 2006, beginning January 1, 2006.
Under SFAS No. 123(R), the Company must determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments, the
amortization method for compensation cost and the transition method to be used at date of adoption. The transition methods include modified
prospective and modified retrospective adoption options. Under the modified retrospective option, prior periods may be restated either as of the
beginning of the year of adoption or for all periods presented. The modified prospective method requires that compensation expense be recorded
for all unvested stock options and restricted stock at the beginning of the first quarter of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), while the modified
retrospective method would record compensation expense for all unvested stock options and restricted stock beginning with the first period
restated. After evaluating the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company determined to adopt SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified
prospective method and use the Black-Scholes model to value service stock option plans that are currently in effect. The adoption of SFAS No.
123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the
Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and its related
interpretations.

In March 2005, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, �Share-Based Payment� (�SAB No. 107�), which provides interpretive
guidance related to the interaction between SFAS No. 123(R) and certain SEC rules and regulations. It also provides the SEC staff�s views
regarding valuation of share-based payment arrangements. In April 2005, the SEC amended the compliance dates for SFAS No. 123(R), to allow
companies to implement the standard at the beginning of their next fiscal year, instead of the next reporting period beginning after June 15,
2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows of the Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS
No. 123(R) and its related interpretations.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, �Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations�  (�FIN No. 47�). FIN 47
provides guidance relating to the identification of and financial reporting for legal obligations to perform an asset retirement activity. The
Interpretation requires recognition of a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the liability�s fair
value can be reasonably estimated. FIN No. 47 also defines when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair
value of an asset retirement obligation. The provision was effective no later than the end of fiscal years ending after December 15, 2005. The
adoption of FIN No. 47 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the
Company.

In June 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, reached a consensus on Issue 05-6, �Determining the Amortization Period for Leasehold
Improvements� (�EITF 05-6�), which requires that leasehold improvements acquired in a business combination or purchased subsequent to the
inception of a lease be amortized over the lesser of the useful life of the assets or a term that includes renewals that are reasonably assured at the
date of the business combination or purchase. EITF 05-6 was effective for periods beginning after July 1, 2005. The provisions of this consensus
did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.
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In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, �Accounting Changes and Error Corrections�a replacement of APB No. 20 and SFAS No. 3� (�SFAS
No. 154�). SFAS No. 154 provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. It establishes,
unless impracticable, retrospective application as the required method for reporting a change in accounting principle in the absence of explicit
transition requirements specific to the newly adopted accounting principles. SFAS No. 154 also provides guidance for determining whether
retrospective application of a change in accounting principle is impracticable and for reporting a change when retrospective application is
impracticable. The correction of an error in previously issued consolidated financial statements is not an accounting change. However, the
reporting of a correction of an error involves adjustments to previously issued consolidated financial statements similar to those generally
applicable to reporting an accounting change retrospectively. Therefore, the reporting of a correction of an error by restating previously issued
consolidated financial statements is also addressed by SFAS No. 154. SFAS No. 154 was required to be adopted in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows of the Company.

In August 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (�FSP�) FSP FAS No. 123-1, �Classification and Measurement of Freestanding Financial
Instruments Originally Issued in Exchange for Employee Services under FASB Statement No. 123(R).� In this FSP, the FASB decided to defer
the requirements in SFAS No. 123(R), that make a freestanding financial instrument subject to the recognition and measurement requirements of
other accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America when the rights conveyed by the instrument are no longer
dependent on the holder being an employee. The guidance in this FSP should be applied upon initial adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and
its related interpretations.

In October 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 123(R)-2, �Practical Accommodation to the Application of Grant Date As Defined in FASB
Statement No. 123(R).� In this FSP, the FASB is providing companies with a �practical accommodation� when determining the grant date of an
award that is subject to the accounting provisions in SFAS No. 123(R). Specifically, assuming a company meets all of the other criteria in the
definition of grant date in SFAS No. 123(R), a mutual understanding (between the company and the recipient) of the key terms and conditions of
an award is presumed to exist at the date the award is approved (in accordance with the company�s normal corporate governance policy) if (1) the
award is a unilateral grant meaning that the recipient does not have the ability to negotiate the key terms and conditions of the award, and (2) the
key terms and conditions of the award are expected to be communicated to the recipient within a relatively short period of time (as defined in the
FSP) after the grant was approved. The guidance in this FSP shall be applied upon initial adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the
Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and its related
interpretations.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 123(R)-3, �Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based
Payment Awards.� This FSP provides a practical exception when a company transitions to the accounting requirements in SFAS No. 123(R).
SFAS No. 123(R) requires a company to calculate the pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to
adopting SFAS No. 123(R) (termed the �APIC Pool�), assuming the company had been following the recognition provisions prescribed by SFAS
No. 123. The FASB learned that several companies do not have the necessary historical information to calculate the APIC Pool as envisioned by
SFAS No. 123(R) and accordingly, the FASB decided to allow a practical exception as documented in this FSP. The guidance in this FSP was
effective after the date the FSP was posted to the FASB website. The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and all of its interpretations had a material
effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company. Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and its related interpretations.

In February 2006, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 123(R)-4, �Classification of Options and Similar Instruments Issued As Employee
Compensation That Allow for Cash Settlement upon the Occurrence of a Contingent Event.� The guidance in this FSP amends certain paragraphs
in SFAS No. 123(R), and addresses situations when a company has option plans that require the company to settle outstanding options in cash
upon the occurrence of certain contingent events. For example, some plans require a company to cash settle an option upon a change in control
of the company, or death or disability of the holder. This FSP amends SFAS No. 123(R) to address such situations and
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concludes that a probability notion be applied. The guidance in this FSP was effective with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). If a company had
already adopted SFAS No. 123(R), the FASB required retrospective application if a company applied the standard inconsistent with the
conclusions in this FSP. The guidance in this FSP was applied upon initial adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and
all of its interpretations had a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company. Note 7
to the consolidated financial statements discusses the effects of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) and its related interpretations.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issue Task Force EITF reached a consensus on issue EITF 06-2 �Accounting for Sabbatical Leave and Other Similar
Benefits Pursuant to FASB Statement No. 43� (�EITF 06-2�). Accordingly, an employee�s right to a compensated absence under a sabbatical or
other similar benefit arrangement (a) that requires the completion of a minimum service period and (b) in which the benefit does not increase
with additional years of service accumulates pursuant to paragraph 6(b) of EITF 06-2 for arrangements in which the individual continues to be a
compensated employee and is not required to perform duties for the entity during the absence. Therefore, assuming all of the other conditions of
paragraph 6 of EITF 06-2 are met, the compensation cost associated with a sabbatical or other similar benefit arrangement should be accrued
over the requisite service period.  The provisions of this consensus should be applied in financial reports for fiscal years beginning after the date
the consensus is ratified by the Board. Entities should recognize the effects of applying the consensus as a change in accounting principle
through retrospective application to all prior periods unless it is impracticable to do so. The Company had been accounting for benefits similar to
sabbatical leave in accordance with the provisions of this consensus. Consequently, the adoption of the provisions of this consensus will not
have a material impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.� This Interpretation clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in Companies� financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, �Accounting for
Income Taxes.� This Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. This Interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure and transition. The Company does not expect FASB Interpretation No. 48 to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
position, results of operation or cash flows of the Company.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements.�  SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principals and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  The statement does
not require new fair value measurements, but is applied to the extent that other accounting pronouncements require or permit fair value
measurements.  The statement emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on the assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.  Companies that have assets and liabilities measured at fair value will be
required to disclose information that enables the users of its financial statements to access the inputs used to develop those measurements.  The
reporting entity is encouraged, but not required, to combine the fair value information disclosed under this statement with the fair value
information disclosed under other accounting pronouncements.  SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. 
The Company is in the process of evaluating the provisions of the statement, but does not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have
a material impact on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employers� Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans � an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R), which requires an employer to recognize the over-funded or under-funded status
of a defined benefit postretirement plan (other than a multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to
recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income of a business entity or changes in
unrestricted net assets of a not-for �profit organization.  Statement No. 158 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of
the date of its year-end statement of financial position, with limited exceptions.  This statement is effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2006.  The Company does not currently provide defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans, therefore the Company has
determined that the adoption of this statement will not have an impact on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.
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In September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, �Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements� (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides guidance on how the effects of prior-year uncorrected
financial statement misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. SAB 108 requires registrants to quantify
misstatements using both an income statement (rollover) and balance sheet (iron curtain) approach and evaluate whether either approach results
in a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are considered, is material. If prior year errors that had been
previously considered immaterial are now considered material based on either approach, no restatement is required as long as management
properly applied its previous approach and all relevant facts and circumstances were considered. If prior years are not restated, the cumulative
effect adjustment is recorded in opening retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years
ending on or after November 15, 2006. The Company does not expect the adoption of SAB 108 to have an impact on our financial condition or
results of operations.

Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact the Company�s financial position, results of operations or cash flows due to adverse
changes in market prices, including interest rate risk and other relevant market rate or price risks. The Company does not have any significant
risks related to derivative financial instruments or foreign currency translation. However, the Company is exposed to interest rate changes
related primarily to cash borrowings on the Company�s credit facility. The weighted average interest rate for the borrowings on the credit facility
during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, were 8.75% and 6.57%, respectively, and 8.44% and 6.56% for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. For every 0.25% increase in interest rates, the Company would expect a quarterly increase in
interest expense of $625 for each $1.0 million borrowed.

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
Company�s reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC�s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management,
including the Company�s Chief Executive Officer (�CEO�) and Chief Financial Officer (�CFO�), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, as
they are designed to do, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures.

In connection with the preparation of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as of September 30, 2006, an evaluation was performed under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company�s management, including the CEO and CFO, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of the Company�s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act). In light of the material
weakness referenced below which the Company first identified in connection with the assessment required by Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and disclosed in its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 and which continued to exist as of the end of
the period covered by this report, the Company�s CEO and CFO concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective at a reasonable assurance level.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material
misstatement of the annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The Company identified the following
material weakness in the Company�s internal control over financial reporting:

Insufficient personnel resources, supervision and training within its accounting function - The Company did not maintain effective
controls over the financial reporting process at its CCI division and the related corporate oversight because of
insufficient personnel resources, supervision and training within the accounting function. This material weakness
resulted in the restatement of the consolidated financial statements to correct an error related to the amortization of
leasehold improvements. In addition, this material weakness resulted in audit adjustments to the 2005 annual
consolidated financial statements affecting inventory, accounts payable,

29

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RV HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q

1997 Stock Option Plan 40



accrued liabilities, accumulated depreciation and amortization, and the related income statement accounts, primarily cost of goods sold, selling,
general and administrative expenses. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in misstatements in the aforementioned accounts that
would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.

Remediation of the Material Weakness
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During the 2006 fiscal year, management has taken a number of steps that it believes will impact the material weakness in internal control over
financial reporting described above. Management has assessed the supervision, training and corporate oversight within its accounting function.
The Company has undertaken remedial actions that include strengthened controls for the accounting close process, additional divisional staffing
and the implementation of procedures to improve the supervision of the divisional accounting staffs. Remedial actions also include additional
procedures at corporate to strengthen ongoing reviews of divisional accounting activities through the utilization of its corporate and internal
audit staffs.

The Company believes that it will be able to improve its internal control procedures and remedy the material weakness and additional control
deficiencies identified as part of its 2005 year-end assessment process. Notwithstanding the Company�s remediation efforts, because of the
inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
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Except as disclosed above, there have been no changes in the Company�s internal control over financial reporting during the most recently
completed fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company�s internal control over financial
reporting.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RV HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 43



In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, �Item 1A. Risk Factors� in
the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, which could materially affect the Company�s business, financial
condition or future results. The risks described in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K are not the only risks facing the Company.
Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Company or that the Company currently deems to be immaterial also may
materially adversely affect the Company�s business, financial condition and/or operating results. Other than with respect to the risk factors below,
there have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in the �Risk Factors� section of the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31 and the Company�s Forms 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2006 and June 30, 2006.

For some of our components, we depend on a small group of suppliers, and the loss or business interruption of any of these suppliers
could affect our ability to obtain components at competitive prices, which would decrease our margins. Further, any defects in the
third-party components or raw materials we incorporate into our motorhomes could negatively affect our sales and financial results.

Most recreation vehicle and bus components are readily available from a variety of sources. However, a few components are produced by only a
small group of quality suppliers that have the capacity to supply large quantities on a national basis. Our NRV subsidiary purchases
gasoline-powered chassis from Ford Motor Company and Workhorse Custom Chassis and rear engine diesel-powered chassis from Freightliner
Custom Chassis Corporation. Our CCI subsidiary manufactures its own chassis, the DynoMax, which is used as the base upon which all CCI
motorhomes are built, except for the Country Coach Prevost bus conversions, which utilize a Prevost bus shell. We generally maintain a one to
two month production supply of a chassis in inventory. Historically, in the event of an industry-wide restriction of supply, chassis manufacturers
have allocated chassis among our competitors and us based on the volume of chassis previously purchased. If Ford Motor Company, Workhorse
Custom Chassis or Freightliner Custom Chassis Corporation were to discontinue the manufacturing of motor home chassis, or if as a group all of
our chassis suppliers significantly reduced the availability of chassis to the industry, our business could be adversely effected. Similarly,
shortages, production delays or work stoppages by the employees of these chassis manufacturers or other chassis suppliers could have a material
adverse effect on us. Finally, as is standard in the
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industry, arrangements with chassis suppliers are terminable at any time by either the chassis supplier or us. If we cannot obtain an adequate
chassis supply, this could result in a material adverse affect on our financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to the chassis, we incorporate a variety of components and raw materials from third parties into our recreational vehicles. Any defects
in these components or raw materials could cause us to incur significant expense in repairing, replacing or finding alternatives to the components
or raw materials, could negatively impact the sales of affected motorhomes and could cause a material adverse impact on our financial results
and financial condition. In this regard, in April 2006, we identified an issue relating to a supply of defective fiberglass affecting an unknown
number of units produced, and approximately 72 have been identified as of the end of our 2006 third quarter.  We are not certain of the number
of other units that may have been affected by this defect and additional units beyond those identified may also contain the defective material and
require repair, resulting in additional costs to us. The costs associated with dealing with the defective product issue have had a material impact
on consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the quarter ended September 30, 2006. We expect to continue to
incur costs related to the repair and resale of affected units in future periods and expect to continue to incur additional costs if we discover
additional units that may have been affected.   While we have filed a lawsuit against the supplier of the defective fiberglass in order to recover
the costs of repair, lost profits and other damages suffered by us, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in this lawsuit or that we
will be able to recover any or all of the costs incurred as a result of the defective material.

We believe we will need additional capital in the near term, and it may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all, and if we do not
receive any necessary capital, it could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and future prospects.

In order to fund on-going operations, the Company remains dependent upon its ability to utilize outside financing through borrowings on its
existing line of credit as well as any additional or replacement debt financings it may be able to complete until it achieves sustained operational
profitability through a combination of increased sales, cost reductions and improved product margins. After consideration of its available
borrowing capacity and funding needs, the Company believes it will need to raise additional funds in the near term in order to have sufficient
financial resources to fund its operations for the next twelve months. As a result, the Company is currently reviewing offers for long-term debt
financing and several other strategic opportunities in order to lessen the Company�s reliance on its existing line of credit and to improve its
working capital position.  There can be no assurance that any such long-term financing or strategic opportunities can be completed with
acceptable terms and conditions. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing, it will then attempt to preserve its available resources
by various methods including deferring the creation or satisfaction of commitments, deferring the introduction of new products or otherwise
scaling back its operations. If the Company were unable to raise such additional capital or defer certain costs as described above, that inability
would have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial position, results of operations and prospects.

Item 6.  Exhibits

Exhibits

10.1 Loan Modification Agreement No. 2, dated August 10, 2006, between the Company, NRV, CCI and UPS Capital Corporation and
Wells Fargo Bank, as lenders.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act.
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act.
32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NATIONAL R.V. HOLDINGS, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: November 10, 2006 By /s/ Thomas J. Martini
Thomas J. Martini
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
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